STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
Edward B. Cottingham, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOSHUA GRIFFITH,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000066

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

WILLIAM HARRY EHLIES, II
Ehlies Law Firm
310 Mills Avenue, Suite 201
Greenville, SC 29605

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Whether the Court erred by refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal on the charge of murder since there was not direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that appellant killed the victim with malice aforethought, since the evidence against the co-defendant having been the killer was overwhelming, and the stand-alone reply testimony of appellant's former girlfriend that appellant allegedly said he saw the victim die was not substantial circumstantial evidence of his guilt?

II.

Whether the Court erred by refusing to direct a verdict on two counts of ABIK and criminal conspiracy since there was no direct or substantial circumstantial evidence appellant committed the battery upon the injured victims?

III.

Whether the Court erred by refusing to charge the State v. Logan, circumstantial evidence charge, since that charge was needed in this overwhelmingly circumstantial evidence case, and the judge had the duty to charge the law where it was applicable, as here?

IV.

Whether the Court erred by permitting appellant's former girlfriend, Kayla Houck, to testify as a reply witness where she was in violation of the sequestration order?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Joshua "Blake" Griffith, was indicted by the Horry County Grand Jury for the offenses of murder, criminal conspiracy, and two counts of assault and battery with intent to kill (ABIK). Co-defendant Blake Brown was indicted for similar offenses. R. 711. Appellant's case came on for trial from January 6-10, 2014, before the Honorable Edward B. Cottingham, and a jury. B. Alexander Hyman and Blake A. Hewitt, represented appellant. Nancy R. Livesay, Martin D. Spratlin, and Carolina F. Fox were the assistant solicitors. R. 1.

On January 10, 2014, the jury found appellant guilty on all counts. R. 695, ll. 1-17. Judge Cottingham sentenced appellant to thirty years for murder and imposed concurrent sentences on the other counts.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The Court erred by refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal on the charge of murder since there was not direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that appellant killed the victim with malice aforethought, where the evidence against the co-defendant having been the killer was overwhelming, and the stand-alone reply testimony of appellant's former girlfriend that appellant allegedly said he saw the victim die was not substantial circumstantial evidence of his guilt (facts of Issues 1 and 2).

Relevant Facts

Marianna Mays went to Myrtle Beach in September 2009 with appellant Blake Griffith, her friend, Kayla Houck, and co-defendant Blake Brown. R. 25, l. 11 - 26. l. 23. They went to the beach on a Saturday and they planned to stay until Monday night. R. 27, ll. 2-17. The four young people stayed at the beach house on Sunday night, but when Mays and Kayla woke up Monday morning, their money was missing. Kayla told Brown and appellant Griffith that they had to leave. R. 31, l. 12 - 32, l. 17. Mays said that "I figured Blake Brown took it." However, Kayla told appellant that he also needed to leave. As will be seen clearly infra, Brown was widely thought to be "trouble." R. 32, ll. 2-2.

The group got back together Monday night. Kayla picked up appellant Griffith and Blake Brown from Brown's house about 9:00 p.m. that evening. R. 35, ll. 4 -9.

The group went shopping, and the state would attempt to make much of the fact that appellant purchased a knife at the Red Hot Shoppe that evening at about 11:00. R. 35, l. 13 - 36, l. 10. Mays said that both Brown and appellant had knives that evening. "He

[appellant] wasn't flashing it or nothing like that. He just had it clipped on him." R. 36, ll. 3-24.

Mays remembered that their intention was to go back to the beach house after going out that evening. However, when they passed the Afterdeck Bar next to the Doll House they saw that the bar was packed. Mays remembered they all thought: "It's our last night, so I made a U-turn and we went back to the Afterdeck, all four of us. It was about midnight." R. 37, ll. 2-14. Blake Brown was "patted down" before they went into the bar. However, they were allowed in a "side door because we didn't have any money to pay for the cover fee to get in." R. 37, ll. 15-23.

According to Mays, Blake Brown was the only person with ties to Myrtle Beach who knew people there. None of the three knew anyone at the Afterdeck that night. R. 38, ll. 10-24. Appellant went with Blake Brown into the bar that evening and "Kayla and [Mays] are dancing. We see [Brown and appellant] a couple of times. We danced a couple of times with them. I mean, everybody was having a fun time. Like, I didn't see Blake Brown or Blake Griffith get mad; I didn't see them frustrated with each other. I didn't see any altercations whatsoever, like all four of us really were just having a good time." R. 39, ll. 5-17.

The four of them stayed at the Afterdeck for an hour and a half to two hours. Both appellant Griffith and Blake Brown were wearing wife-beaters and shorts that evening. Mays and Kayla left the bar and went to the car first. Mays telephoned appellant on his cell phone, and he told her "we'll be out there in a minute." R. 40, l. 13 - 44, l. 21. As they were waiting in the car, after she talked to appellant on the phone, they saw "people were busting out the doors, one guy was actually being carried out." Mays said she was confused about

what was going on “then all of a sudden I see Blake Brown just run out the door and take off, doesn’t hesitate to look around, just runs off.” Mays saw two injured people coming out of the club. R. 47, ll. 6-24. One victim would die (murder count), and two were injured (ABIK counts).

Mays remembered that appellant Griffith came walking to the car very calmly. She was very worried about appellant. She asked him if he “had anything to do with this and he said ‘yes’ and that’s when he took off running.” Appellant did not appear to be injured at all, he did not have any blood on him, but he appeared angry just before he ran away. R. 48, l. 23 -50, l. 25.

While Mays was worried about appellant, she did not care about Blake Brown. She asserted Brown, “was blowing my phone up, too” during this chaos. R. 52, ll. 3-25.

When Brown reached Mays on the telephone he said that he was back at the beach house. Mays agreed to let the police ride with her to the beach house. Appellant was not there, but as will be seen infra, Blake Brown was arrested by the police after they arrived at the beach house. Brown approached the car Mays was driving, and the police pulled their weapons on Brown. R. 52, l. 7 - 53, l. 6.

On cross-examination, Mays repeated that she thought Blake Brown stole their money that Sunday night. She also said that Brown “had a cocky attitude,” and that Brown had gotten in a fight at the Waffle House that weekend. Appellant had nothing to do with Blake Brown’s hostile actions. R. 64, l. 4 - 66, l. 23. Appellant was having a good time that evening, and she did not think appellant was not looking for “any trouble” at the Afterdeck or anywhere else that evening. Mays had the opposite opinion of Blake Brown. R. 67, l. 1 -

69, l.1. Mays did not see appellant do anything improper that weekend but she knew that Blake Brown had cocaine with him. R. 73, l. 10 - 76, l. 17.

Ashley McNeill was at the Afterdeck on that September 8, 2009 evening. She remembered seeing "two boys in white wife-beater shirts and one was holding a knife. So we told the bouncer and we saw the boys throughout the floor." R. 85, l. 8 - 87, l. 7.

Ashley remembered that her friend, DJ (the decedent) bumped into one of the men in wife-beater shirts, and that a "big fight broke out." She did not know who stabbed DJ, but she said the knife was silver. R. 96, l. 7 - 115, l. 3. The defense told the jury in closing that Ashley was not believable. She testified she was eighteen-years-old, at this bar but not drinking, and that she saw appellant with a silver knife even though neither knife carried that night was silver. Further, the bouncer disputed the assertion that anyone him of the knives. R. 652, l. 5 - 654, l. 2.

Ryan Palmer, twenty years old, went to the Afterdeck on September 8, 2009 with about ten friends. R. 160, ll. 4-23. He saw the two men, Brown and appellant, together that evening. Palmer claimed both men stared at him as if there were a problem, and Palmer claimed both men "bumped him." A short time later he heard someone behind him say "you are about the get fucked up." R. 168, l. 9 - 170, l. 16. Palmer identified appellant in the courtroom as being "the shorter guy." R. 170, ll.10-16.

On cross-examination, Palmer admitted he gave a statement that Brown, the taller man, was the person he bumped into. It was Brown who "told him you are about to get fucked up." R. 187, l. 12 - 191, l. 1. Palmer thought Brown was the person who "cut him on the head because DJ and Griffith were next to him and he had just thrown a punch at

Griffith.” R. 190, l. 16 - 191, l. 7. Appellant never touched him and he never saw appellant with a knife that evening. R. 198, l. 7 - 199, l. 12.

Robert Penna was one of the men stabbed (ABIK) that evening. He had first claimed that appellant, the shorter one, stabbed him that evening at the Afterdeck. R. 248, l. 17 -250, l. 9. However, Penna then repeatedly admitted that he did not know who actually stabbed him, and he was just making assumptions because “it happened so fast.” R. 253, ll. 8-22.

Penna maintained: “It took me a long time to kinda of come to terms with myself to remember what happened that night.” He said the more he thought about it, the more he assumed it must have been appellant who stabbed him. He remembered he was “throwing what [punches] I could at Brown at the time.” R. 263, ll. 7-22.

At another point on cross-examination, Penna was asked how he could assert that appellant stabbed him and DJ that evening when he admitted he did not see who did the stabbing. Penna answered, “*I guess you are just going to have to take my word for it.*” R. 268, ll. 12-25. (emphasis added). On redirect examination by the solicitor, Penna even admitted: “I didn’t see a knife at all.” R. 270, ll. 3-5.

Penna acknowledged that he never saw appellant with a knife during the struggle. He also admitted he did not know who stabbed and killed DJ that night. He told the police that he remembered very little of what occurred that evening, R. 263, l.7-268, l. 25. Penna finally admitted that he did not even know he had been stabbed until “someone told me I was stabbed.” R. 274, ll. 3-11.

Kenneth Lee Muth was the assistant manager at the Afterdeck and the Dollhouse on the night of the incident. Muth noticed Brown that evening, he remembered Brown, and he thought Brown was "trouble."

Muth recalled that the car that appellant was driving pulled up in front of the Dollhouse. "There was two females in front, two males in the back." He remembered co-defendant Brown because he leaned out the window, stuck his forearm out the window, and he said, "yeah, I'm local, right here it says 843" and "he had 843 tattooed on him." R. 284, l. 15 - 285, l. 4. After the incident, appellant ran from the scene towards the inter-coastal waterway. R. 286, l. 6 - 290, l. 3.

Detective Jim Chatfield with the Horry County Police Department responded to the Afterdeck on the morning of September 8, 2009. There were approximately 400 people there, and it was "basically out of control." R. 301, l. 18 - 302, l. 19. Chatfield was told that two people were involved in the altercation. In the chaos at the Afterdeck, people were trampling over the crime scene and witnesses were leaving. He never saw Blake Brown or appellant Griffith at the scene. R. 303, l. 7 - 306, l. 20.

On September 8, 2009, Sergeant Randall Gant of the Horry Police learned that a person of interest -- appellant, had possibly swim in the inter-coastal waterway. The police dog tracked the footprints and found appellant laying on the ground. R. 310, l. 13 - 316, l. 12. Gant estimated the length of the swim was at least "half a mile, three quarters of a mile." R. 329, ll. 9-16.

The pathologist, Dr. Edward Proctor, testified that the decedent, DJ, had a stab wound in his left chest area. He died of massive bleeding and blood loss. The victim did not appear to have any other injuries other than the stab wound. R. 362, l. 17 - 365, l. 14.

Crime Scene Investigator Robert Deal testified that the police had located a green mossy oak folding knife and swabbed it to take a DNA sample. R. 404, l. 12 - 405, l. 22. SLED DNA/Serology Fitts testified that the swab from the knife handle had the major contributor DNA of Blake Brown. R. 425, ll. 1-25. Fitts did not find anything on the knife linking it to appellant. R. 428, ll. 6-8.

Seth Rogers was drinking at the bar that evening. He saw Blake Brown, the taller white male, standing over the victim's body. He did not see appellant until appellant ran and said in an excited fashion: "We gotta go, we gotta go." Both men ran out of the parking lot, and then "I turned my attention back to my friends." R. 457, l. 23 - 464, l. 8.

Detective David "Rusty" Crocker, learned from the emergency room staff that the victim was dead. He went to the Afterdeck to assist in the investigation. R. 473, l. 11 - 474, l. 16. Crocker was told that Blake Brown was calling a female friend. Brown was requesting that she pick him up at the beach house where they were staying so he could get back to Greenville. Crocker got consent to use the young woman's vehicle and he drove her vehicle to the beach house in North Myrtle Beach. R. 474, l. 17 - 475, l. 12. When he turned into the driveway, a vehicle was parked there with two people inside. Crocker saw Blake Brown get out of the vehicle and approach the Jeep Cherokee. Crocker got out of the Cherokee and drew his weapon. He ordered Blake Brown to get on the ground. Crocker arrested both Brown and Brown's mother. He saw a Mossy Oak-style knife on the passenger floorboard. R. 474, l. 21 - 479, l. 2. This knife contained Brown's and the victim's DNA. Crocker had no contact with appellant Griffith. R. 483, ll. 16-21.

Directed verdict motion

Defense counsel Hewitt moved for a directed verdict noting there was no evidence that appellant Griffith was brandishing a knife that evening. This was a purely circumstantial evidence case. Counsel noted that the one witness that came the closest said "you will have to take my word for it." This did not meet state's burden of proof at the directed verdict stage. R. 495, l. 5 - 497, l. 11.

Defense counsel focused strongly on the fact that the state had utterly failed to prove that appellant did anything with malice aforethought as to both the murder and ABIK counts. Counsel argued that "eyeballing somebody" or even "talking trash" did not satisfy the state's duty to produce sufficient evidence of malice aforethought at the directed verdict stage, even with everything being accepted, as it must, in the light most favorable to the state. R. 487, l. 10 - 492, l. 2. Defense counsel noted that Blake-Brown, whom the evidence pointed to as the guilty stabbing party, had pled guilty. R. 490, ll. 16-25.

The judge appeared to focus strongly on the fact that appellant purchased a knife that evening; that a jury could believe that appellant was acting with Brown, and that they wanted to start a fight. R. 493, l. 14 - 494, l. 11. Defense counsel Hewitt continued to focus on the fact that the state's burden in this circumstantial evidence case had not been met, and there was no evidence of a conspiracy. The judge continued to point out there was evidence of "trash talking" that evening. Defense counsel argued that the mere fact appellant purchased a knife, and that a person later died at the bar did not satisfy the state's burden of proof at the directed verdict stage. R. 417, l. 7 - 420, l. 11.

Other evidence

Kacie Henry testified she dated Blake Brown right after the incident in this case. She was aware of his arrest and the charges against him. R. 540, l. 15 - 541, l. 14. At one point appellant lived with her. R. 541, l. 12 - 542, l. 1.

Kacie Henry testified that she talked to Blake Brown about the incident at the Afterdeck. The following occurred:

Q. Ms. Henry, I'm not real sure where we were when we left off, but I believe that you had stated you were from Greenville and that you were the girlfriend of Blakely Brown; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Did Mr. Brown live with you at some point when you were in Greenville?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And did you and Blakely Brown speak about this incident that occurred at the Afterdeck?

A. Yes.

Q. **Did Blakely Brown ever tell you that he stabbed someone?**

A. **Yes, he did.**

Q. **How many people did he tell you that he stabbed.**

A. **Three.**

Q. **Did you tell you that he stabbed the young man that died?**

A. **Yes, he did.**

Q. **Did he ever tell you that my client did the stabbing?**

A. **No.**

Q. So he freely admitted to you that he stabbed the boy that died?

A. Yes.

Q. As well as the other two men?

A. Yes, he did.

Q. Did he tell you that just once?

A. No, it was more than once.

Q. How many times do you think he may have told you that?

A. I'm, he would talk about it, I mean five, six, seven, I mean it could've been more.

Q. Okay. Do you know my client?

A. Yes.

Q. How long have you known my client?

A. For a couple of years, I mean, yes.

Q. As far as, as you knowing my client, if you're friends with my client, would that affect your testimony here at all?

A. No.

Q. Is what you're telling me the truth?

A. Yes.

Q. Would you get up here and lie for my client?

A. No.

R. 544, l. 2 - 545, l. 16. (emphasis added).

Christopher Whiteside was a good friend of appellant Griffith. He met Blake Brown at a party at a Hampton Inn in Travelers Rest. He heard Blake Brown admit that he stabbed three people, and that he had killed someone. R. 565, l. 14 - 567, l. 7; R. 573, l. 18 - 574, l.

Theron Nalley met Blake Brown at this same party at the Hampton Inn in Travelers Rest in the summer of 2010. He heard Blake Brown admit that he stabbed three people, and that someone died. R. 589, l. 9 - 590, l. 25. On cross-examination, Theron denied that appellant was at this party. R. 592, l. 19 - 593, l. 20.

Reply testimony

Over objection,¹ the state was allowed to offer the reply testimony of Kayla Houck. Houck testified that she talked to appellant two days after he made bond. Houck said that appellant told her that he was sorry for what had happened, and that he said he had seen someone die that evening. Houck said appellant did a “falling back” motion to apparently describe how the victim fell. She alleged that appellant said of the other knife: “That shit it [is] long gone.” Houck said she did not tell anybody about this discussion because she was good friends with appellant’s family. R. 608, l. 22 - 610, l. 9.

Houck testified that she interpreted appellant’s expressions above as an apparent admission to murder. She offered that: “I don’t want to be friends with a murderer.” R. 610, ll. 7-24.

On cross-examination, Houck finally admitted that she had spoken with prosecution Investigator Carmen Mureddu, and that she never alleged that appellant admitted any involvement in the crime. Houck gave a full statement in 2010 to the investigator, and never mentioned any of her allegations she was making in court that day. R. 612, l. 9 - 613, l. 14.

¹ See Issue 4 below.

Direct verdict motion renewed

Defense counsel renewed his previous motion for a directed verdict. The judge stated there was sufficient evidence to go forward to the jury, and that he was not going to direct a verdict. R. 621, I. 4 - 623, I. 1.

Discussion

The state failed to present any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence that appellant killed the decedent in this case. As will be seen infra, the state also failed to present any direct or circumstantial evidence that appellant caused the injuries to the "ABIK" victims. The state's evidence placed appellant with Blake Brown where it was apparent Brown, "the local boy," was the bad actor and "trouble," as the manager of the Afterdeck immediately spotted when Brown arrived at the bar.

There was no substantial circumstantial evidence he caused injuries to the victims or the death of the decedent. The state's witnesses, as defense counsel Hewitt argued, did not provide the necessary circumstantial evidence to get beyond the directed verdict stage. One witness, when challenged about his obvious memory problems or inconsistent statements arrogantly asserted, "You have to take my word for it." Further, defense counsel also correctly argued that "eyeballing somebody" or even "trash talking" did not satisfy the state's burden of proof at the directed verdict stage, in the light most favorable to the state.

As seen, the trial judge focused much attention on the fact that appellant purchased the knife that evening. Brown already had a knife, and the only DNA found a knife belonged to Brown and the victim. Further, the judge's reasoning that the jury could believe that appellant was acting with Brown, and that both men wanted to start a fight that

evening was not substantial circumstantial evidence that appellant murdered the decedent or committed ABIK upon the two living victims.

Moreover, reply witness Houck's testimony that appellant told her he was sorry that what had happened, and that he had witnessed someone die that evening also fell far short of the substantial circumstantial evidence needed to get beyond the directed verdict stage. It was undisputed that appellant was at the bar, and the fact that he allegedly saw the victim die was also not substantial circumstantial evidence of appellant's guilt. It added precious little to the analysis. At best, this evidence only an raised impermissible suspicion of appellant's guilt.

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