ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
Edward B. Cottingham, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

FEB 25 2016

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent,

v.

JOSHUA GRIFFITH,

Appellant

Appellate Case No. 2014-000066

AMENDED FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5758
South Carolina Attorney General's Office
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
803-734-3601

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit
PO Box 1276
Conway, S.C. 29528
843-915-8608

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Court to find, just as the Court did in *Frazier*, that “[t]his evidence, when viewed collectively, presented a jury question. . .” as to Appellant’s guilt. *Id.* at 532, 689 S.E.2d at 613. Respondent submits that the State presented substantial circumstantial evidence of Appellant’s guilt at trial and that the State further excluded other reasonable hypotheses through its presentation of the evidence. Thus, the trial court did not err in denying Appellant’s motion for directed verdict as to murder and assault and battery, and this Court should affirm the trial court’s ruling.

Conspiracy

In the second argument, the Appellant complains the there was insufficient evidence of a criminal conspiracy. “To establish the existence of a conspiracy, proof of an express agreement is not necessary, and direct evidence is not essential, but the conspiracy may be sufficiently shown by circumstantial evidence and the conduct of the parties.” *State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 63, 502 S.E.2d 63, 70 (1998). Because the crime of conspiracy is the agreement itself, the State need not show any overt acts in furtherance of the common scheme or plan. *State v. Wilson*, 315 S.C. 289, 292, 294, 433 S.E.2d 864, 867, 868 (1993). Nonetheless, substantive crimes committed in furtherance of the conspiracy may constitute circumstantial evidence from which a jury could infer the existence of the conspiracy, its object, and scope. *Id.* See *State v. Crawford*, 362 S.C. 627, 637, 608 S.E.2d 886, 891 (Ct.App.2005) (“A formal or express agreement need not be established.”); *id.* (“A tacit, mutual understanding, resulting in the willful and intentional adoption of a common design by two or more persons is sufficient, provided the common purpose is to do an unlawful act either as a means or an end.” (internal quotation marks omitted)); *State v. Cope*, 405 S.C. 317, 347-50, 748 S.E.2d 194, 210-11 (2013) cert. denied, 135 S. Ct. 400, 190 L. Ed. 2d 289 (U.S.S.C. 2014).

Plainly there is sufficient evidence that that Griffith and Brown were acting in concert with an intent to do violence. As stated above, Griffith and Brown were together when Griffith purchased the knife shortly before he carried into the Afterdeck. Griffith and Brown were together when they confronted Klevis Horanlli and Seth Rogers and offered to help them if they had any more fights and Brown told them “they were the two realist mother f----s we were going to meet and they were ready to kill a mother f----r.” R. 438-39, 454, Tr.p. 518-519; p. 534, ll. 21-25. Rogers opined that Brown and Griffith were “looking for trouble.” R. 456, Tr.p. 536, l. 12. There is a plethora of evidence that Brown and Griffith were traveling together around the Afterdeck that night doing “mean mugging” and staring at Palmer and his friends on multiple occasions. Further, when Brown and Griffith threatened Palmer from behind stating “You’re about to get f--ked up,” they were standing close together and Palmer testified he could not tell which one said it. R. 168-69, Tr.p. 226-227. R. 205, Tr.p. 263 (“two feet away”). Further, when Palmer was provoked to attempt the first punch before Appellant acted, Brown immediately came upon Palmer in support of Griffith.

The record is clear that neither Griffith nor Brown were acting independent of each other throughout the night. They were acting in tandem throughout the evening making threats and attempting to intimidate. This was sufficient evidence to support the conviction for conspiracy. The court properly denied the directed verdict motion.

III. The trial court did not err in refusing to give the *State v. Logan*, 405 S.C. 83, 747 S.E.2d 444 (2013), instruction on circumstantial evidence, to include specifically “reasonable hypothesis” language removed in *Logan* and even had the court erred, the error was harmless, particularly in light of the overall instructions. (ISSUE III)

Introduction

The trial court’s jury instruction on circumstantial evidence, though not a verbatim recitation of the *Logan* instruction, conveyed the same substance as the *Logan* instruction. If this Court finds that the trial court erred in giving its own circumstantial evidence instruction, such error was harmless. Finally, even assuming there was error, there was no prejudice in this case where the State relied in large part on direct evidence to prove the elements of murder and assault.

“An appellate court will not reverse the trial [court]’s decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Commander*, 396 S.C. 254, 270, 721 S.E.2d 413, 421–22 (2011) (internal quotation marks omitted). “To warrant reversal, a trial [court]’s refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant.” *Id.* at 270, 721 S.E.2d at 422 (internal quotation marks omitted). “A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal.” *State v. Brandt*, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011).

How the Issue Was Raised at Trial

After denying the directed verdict, by agreement of counsel, Judge Cottingham gave his instruction, through his law clerk, prior to the closing arguments. R. 623, Tr.p. 782, ll. 2-6. The law clerk read the charges due to an illness. R. 623-647, Tr.p. 782-806.

During the instruction, the court stated the following concerning evidence:

As jurors, it is your duty to determine the effect, value, weight and truth of the evidence presented during this trial. There are two types of evidence which are generally presented during a trial, direct evidence and circumstantial evidence.

Direct evidence is the testimony of a person who claims to have actual knowledge of a fact, such as an eyewitness. It is evidence which immediately establishes the main fact to be proved.

Circumstantial evidence is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances indicating the existence of a fact. It is evidence which immediately establishes collateral facts from which the main fact may be inferred. Circumstantial evidence is based on inference and not on personal knowledge or observation. **The law makes absolutely no distinction between the weight or value to be given to either direct or circumstantial evidence, nor is a greater degree of certainty required of circumstantial evidence than of direct evidence.** You should weigh all of the evidence in this case. After weighing all the evidence, if you are not convinced of the guilt of the Defendant beyond a reasonable doubt, you must find the Defendant not guilty.

R. 629, Tr.p. 788, ll. 6-23. (emphasis added in Initial Brief of Appellant).⁴

After the charge, defense counsel requested that the trial court charge *State v. Logan*, 405 S.C. 83, 747 S.E.2d 444, which was a recent decision at the time of Appellant's trial. (R. 647, Tr. p. 806, ll. 10-19.

MR. HEWITT: Your Honor, we would request that you additionally charge the circumstantial evidence, the charge that's recognized in State v. Logan, it excludes –

THE COURT: I've already charged circumstantial evidence.

MR. HEWITT: It has — **it excludes all other possibilities except a reasonable hypothesis of guilt.** I will - being very candid with Your Honor, the Supreme Court has

⁴ In State v. Grippon, our supreme court found the trial court did not err when it refused to charge the phrase “to the exclusion of every other reasonable hypothesis” in its circumstantial evidence jury charge. 327 S.C. 79, 82, 489 S.E.2d 462, 463 (1997), abrogated by State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 606 S.E.2d 475 (2004). The supreme court held that in a criminal case relying in whole or in part on circumstantial evidence, once a proper reasonable doubt instruction is given, the jury should be instructed as follows:

There are two types of evidence which are generally presented during a trial—direct evidence and circumstantial evidence. Direct evidence is the testimony of a person who asserts or claims to have actual knowledge of a fact, such as an eyewitness. Circumstantial evidence is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances indicating the existence of a fact. The law makes absolutely no distinction between the weight or value to be given to either direct or circumstantial evidence. Nor is a greater degree of certainty required of circumstantial evidence than of direct evidence. You should weigh all the evidence in the case. After weighing all the evidence, if you are not convinced of the guilt of the defendant beyond a reasonable doubt, you must find [the defendant] not guilty.

Id. at 83–84, 489 S.E.2d at 464. The Grippon instruction is similar to the instant instruction.

held that it's a discretionary call by you, it's subsumed within the reasonable doubt charge but it's not error for you to charge it if you want to.

THE COURT: No, I respectfully decline to do that. I've charged the reasonable doubt on at least five different occasions in my charge and I have given you the circumstantial evidence that has been previously approved by the Courts. So other than that, I assume that the charge is okay?

MR. HEWITT: **That's correct.** Your Honor.

R. 647, Tr.p. 806, ll. 10-24.

ANALYSIS

Recently in State v. Lynch, 412 S.C. 156, 771 S.E.2d 346 (Ct. App. May 6, 2015), the Court of Appeals rejected a strikingly similar argument. Like, Appellant here, the Court found that the denial of a circumstantial evidence charge based upon "reasonable hypothesis" language was not reversible error. Even in this case, the Appellant's counsel was of the opinion that including the "reasonable hypothesis" language was discretionary and that he had no other concerns about the instruction. R. 647, Tr.p. 806. He has failed to show reversible error.

In *State v. Logan*, the Supreme Court held trial courts should provide the following language as a circumstantial evidence charge, in addition to a proper reasonable doubt instruction, when requested by the defendant:

There are two types of evidence which are generally presented during a trial—direct evidence and circumstantial evidence. Direct evidence directly proves the existence of a fact and does not require deduction. Circumstantial evidence is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances indicating the existence of a fact.

Crimes may be proven by circumstantial evidence. The law makes no distinction between the weight or value to be given to either direct or circumstantial evidence, however, to the extent the State relies on circumstantial evidence, all of the circumstances must be consistent with each other, and when taken together, point conclusively to the guilt of the accused beyond a reasonable doubt. If these circumstances merely portray the defendant's behavior as suspicious, the proof has failed.

The State has the burden of proving the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. This burden rests with the State regardless of whether the State relies on direct evidence, circumstantial evidence, or some combination of the two.

405 S.C. at 99, 747 S.E.2d at 452. The court further noted, “This holding does not prevent the trial court from issuing the circumstantial evidence charge provided in *Grippon* and *Cherry*. However, trial courts may not exclusively rely on that charge over a defendant's objection.” *Id.* at 100, 747 S.E.2d at 452–53. Nevertheless, the *Logan* court ultimately concluded any error in the trial court's jury instructions was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the trial court “clearly instructed the jury regarding the reasonable doubt burden of proof” and its jury instruction, “as a whole, properly conveyed the applicable law.” *Id.* at 94 n. 8, 747 S.E.2d at 449 n. 8 (citations omitted).

Though the trial court did not charge the exact language from *Logan*, it apparently charged the instruction approved in *State v. Grippon*, which had the same concepts expressed in the *Logan* instruction are found in the trial court's jury instructions in this case. In this appeal, Appellant takes issue for the first time with the trial court's failure to include the particular language from *Logan* that “to the extent the State relies on circumstantial evidence, *all of the circumstances must be consistent with each other, and when taken together, point conclusively to the guilt of the accused beyond a reasonable doubt.*” Initial Br. of Appellant, p. 28 (emphasis in original) (quoting *Logan*, 405 S.C. at 99, 747 S.E.2d at 452). However, as part of its reasonable doubt instruction, the trial court informed the jury that the defendant was presumed innocent:

A person charged with committing a criminal offense in South Carolina is never required to prove himself innocent. I charge you that it is an important rule of the law that the Defendant, in a criminal trial, no matter what the seriousness of the charge may be, will always be presumed to be innocent of the crime for which the indictment was issued unless guilt has been proven by evidence satisfying you of that guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

This presumption of innocence does not end when you begin your deliberations, but it accompanies the Defendant throughout the trial until you reach a verdict of guilt based on evidence satisfying you of that guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. The presumption of innocence is like a robe of righteousness placed about the shoulders of the Defendant which remains with the Defendant until it has been stripped from the Defendant by evidence satisfying you of the Defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. The presumption of innocence is not mere legal theory. It is not just a legal phrase. It is a substantial right to which every Defendant is entitled unless you the Jury are satisfied from the evidence of the Defendant's guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.

The State has the burden of proving the Defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. Some of you may have served in jurors in civil cases where you were told that it is only necessary to prove that a fact is more likely true than not true, such as by the greater weight or preponderance of the evidence. In criminal cases, the State's proof must be more powerful than that. It must be beyond a reasonable doubt.

Proof beyond a reasonable doubt is proof that leaves you firmly convinced of the Defendant's guilty. There are very few things in this world that we know with absolute certainty and in criminal cases, the law does not require proof that overcomes every possible doubt. If based on your consideration of the evidence, you are firmly convinced that the Defendant is guilty of the crime charged you must find the Defendant guilty. If on the other hand, you think there is a real possibility, that the Defendant is not guilty, you must give the Defendant the benefit of the doubt and find him not guilty.

R. 627-29, Tr.p. 786-788. See also R. 632, Tr.p. 791, ll. 9-12 (“the defendant is not required to prove his innocence. The burden of proof remains on the State to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.”). See Tr. R. 634, 793, ll. 4-7 (reasonable doubt”).

Respondent submits that the substance of the charge given by the trial court in Appellant’s case includes the same substance of the *Logan* charge, just in different words. See *State v. Mattison*, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2010) (“The substance of the law is what must be charged to the jury, not any particular verbiage.” (quoting *State v. Adkins*, 353 S.C. 312, 318–19, 577 S.E.2d 460, 464 (Ct. App. 2003))).

The trial court did not commit reversible error in refusing to issue Lynch's requested “reasonable hypothesis” jury charge. See *State v. Jenkins*, 408 S.C. 560, 572, 759 S.E.2d 759,

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